IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA THOMAS D. HALL

CASE NO. SC12-1442

2013 JAN 23 PM 2:01 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY

CHARLES C. PETERSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

DAVID DIXON HENDRY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0160016 ASSISTANT CCRC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of a 3.851 motion for postconviction relief. Mr. Peterson is alleged to have robbed a Big Lots store and shot a store clerk before taking money from the store and fleeing. During the robbery, the masked assailant shot a store clerk in the upper shoulder blade. A medical examiner informed: "[T]he gunshot was at the left back region, and the bullet was recovered at the right lobe of the liver." (Dir. ROA Vol. XXVI, 1388). The single bullet fired from a .22 caliber handgun struck a clerk in the back shoulder, and travelled through his body before finally lodging in his liver, killing him. Mr. Peterson's convictions and death sentences were upheld by this Court on direct appeal. *Peterson v. State*, 2 So. 3d 146 (Fla. 2009).

CCRC was appointed to represent Mr. Peterson following direct appeal. A 3.851 Motion (see Motion at PC ROA Vol. I, 35-109) was filed citing numerous constitutional violations that occurred following the withdrawal of the public defender's office and the appointment of conflict counsel to Mr. Peterson's case. After an extensive evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied Mr. Peterson's 3.851 Motion. (*See* Order at PC ROA Vol. V, 748-794). This appeal follows.

Five jurors who served in this case are at issue here. The defense never made any motion to remove these five particular jurors from the panel. This will be discussed further in this brief.

The first juror at issue, Audra Johnson, who ultimately served on the jury,

1

informed that she was a victim at the age of 16. Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 789. She stated, "I was raped when I was 16." Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 792. She also stated during *voir dire*, "I don't think that there was a sentence enough for the crime." Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 795. In a case where the jury would hear evidence at trial that the defendant was involved in at least 4 sexual assaults, and the jury would be choosing between a life sentence and the death penalty, the claim here is that defense should have moved to strike this juror from the panel. This is especially true in a case where the juror's assailant closely resembles Mr. Peterson (as evidenced by photographs of Cedrick Bailey and Charles Peterson, State EH Exhibits 1 and 2, PC ROA Vol. V, 807-08, Defense EH Exhibit 1, PC ROA Vol. V, 810).

Furthermore, Mr. Peterson was on trial for shooting the victim. Juror Johnson informed during *voir dire*, "We're currently going through a case right now with my husband's cousin who was recently shot in St. Petersburg, so we're in the middle of a case." (Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 789-790)." The claim here is that a rape victim who was "currently going through a case right now" where a family member was shot is not an appropriate juror for a capital murder trial involving a shooting death. This is especially true in a case where the State would be presenting evidence that the defendant has been convicted previously 4 times of rape, and the juror felt that her assailant (one who closely resembles the defendant) had received too light a sentence, perhaps in the very same Pinellas County courtroom.

This claim brings up another consideration: Juror Johnson stated that "it would be beneficial for us to hear from [the defense], the witnesses, and maybe even to have [the defendant] testify." (Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 874). This is a case where the defense simply rested after the State presented extensive evidence, much in the way of alleged collateral crimes. Juror Johnson's fitness to serve on this jury is questioned in this case, with allegations that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to strike her from the panel.

The second juror at issue, Juror Marilyn Breen, informed that with her sensitivities, she would be better serving on some other type of case. Dir. ROA Vol. XXI, 549. Like with Juror Johnson, the defense never even attempted a strike on Juror Marilyn Breen. She informed that her son was a victim of a crime, he had been knocked off his bike, and sustained a broken arm and required stitches in his head. Dir. ROA Vol. XIX, 254. Juror Breen was upset because she felt the police "could have done more," "they really didn't even question [her] son," and she and her "husband were down there [at the police station] constantly." (Dir. ROA Vol. XIX, 255).

The third juror at issue, Juror Thomas Walbolt, informed that he had been robbed before. Dir. ROA Vol. XX, 406. This is a robbery/murder case. Juror Walbolt informed that his wife had actually escaped and survived two robbery attempts. He also informed that he has worked closely in his job in the parks department with law enforcement. Dir. ROA Vol. XX, 407. As will be discussed further in this brief, the claim here is that Juror Walbolt should have been stricken from this jury. Instead, he served on this jury and came to taint the jurors against Mr. Peterson. Documented on the record are at least two instances of juror misconduct on the part of Juror Walbolt, actually witnessed by the presiding judge and court clerk. Trial counsel was invited by the presiding judge, but failed to take the opportunity to strike this juror.

This juror was witnessed tainting fellow jurors in the courthouse lunchroom cafeteria, explaining to fellow jurors that the State could actually sustain a first degree murder charge in this case based on the felony-murder principle. Juror Walbolt was asked about his improper cafeteria discussions and he responded: "There were jurors that were talking about the-the people that were here today, not the original group. They were talking about how there was something said in the courtroom about - - that was challenged, and why it was first-degree. And I told them there's two-we were instructed there was two reasons for it to be first degree, you know, and that was-that was what the conversation was mostly about . . . she was wrong. She misinterpreted what it was. It was a nurse . . . It was just her interpretation of what first-degree murder was, so-I didn't feel like it was about this case. I just thought it was about firstdegree murder." Dir. ROA Vol. XXIII, 928-929. No motion was ever made by the defense to remove Juror Walbolt.

The fourth juror at issue was Necole Tunsil. Instead of being stricken by the defense after announcing that she would require the defendant to take the stand and deny culpability in a criminal trial, she served as foreperson. She even conveyed that if the defendant did not take the stand, she would presume him guilty. Charles Peterson did not take the stand. Post verdict she told the press: "I think [Charles Peterson] could have gotten up and said something." Dir. ROA Vol. XII, 2158. She outright informed the press post-verdict that the jury's decision might have been different if Charles Peterson would have testified. *See* Dir. ROA Vol. XII, 2144.

The fifth juror at issue is Christine Salgado. She was actually more vehement than Juror Tunsil about requiring the defense to present at least some evidence. She informed the defense that "Even though the burden is on the State, I would still definitely want to hear your side." Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 873. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to exercise either a peremptory or cause challenge on these five jurors.

During *voir dire*, the defense failed to object when the State continually informed the jurors that the legislature had essentially determined that the Peterson case was appropriate for the death penalty. The most egregious example of this misconduct was with prospective juror Annie Stevens; when she expressed reservations about the death penalty, the State responded: "You may not agree that that's heinous enough for you, but the legislature has, on your

5

behalf, said these are the circumstances in Florida that a person could be punished be death. Would you believe that the legislature has the right to do that on your behalf and decide that?" Dir. ROA Vol. XX, 463.

In effect, the State was informing the panel that a vote for life would be a violation of Florida law. Facing no objections, the State continued with prospective juror Daryl Bortel as follows: "You indicated that you would have to look at things and feel whether or not it's appropriate, and we've had discussions about how the legislature has kind of taken that out of your hands a bit." Dir. ROA Vol. XX, 476. Trial counsel should not have permitted the State to continually taint this pool of prospective jurors.

Trial counsel never challenged the questionable eyewitness identifications of the masked perpetrator in this case. They should have consulted and presented an expert in the field of eyewitness identification. Trial counsel allowed *Williams* rule evidence of a prior Hillsborough County sexual assault to prejudicially infect these proceedings. They also failed to challenge the State's fingerprint evidence, and failed to adequately move to exclude all *Williams* rule evidence.

At the penalty phase, trial counsel permitted the State to utilize the *Williams* rule evidence to obtain a death sentence. Counsel did not present additional witnesses in support of the mitigating factor that Mr. Peterson had close relationships with friends and family and did good deeds. Trial counsel did

not investigate and present all available mitigation, presenting a defense expert at trial who branded Mr. Peterson with the stigma of the anti-social personality disorder.

The instant appeal follows the denial of Mr. Peterson's 3.851 Motion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I -- Trial counsel was ineffective during *voir dire* for not exercising either cause or peremptory strikes on five jurors who exhibited bias against the defense. At the very least, there was reasonable doubt as to several jurors' ability to respect Mr. Peterson's presumption of innocence and right to remain silent. The defense should have moved to strike Juror Thomas Walbolt for two instances of juror misconduct after he prejudicially informed his fellow jurors in the courthouse cafeteria before opening statements that there were actually two ways that the State could prove first degree murder.

ARGUMENT II --Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to several improper comments made by the State during *voir dire* suggesting to the jurors that the legislature had chosen this case to be appropriate for the death penalty. Various comments by the State which improperly shrouded this case with legislative legitimacy and diminished the jurors' sense of responsibility should have been objected to by trial counsel. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file appropriate motions *in limine* to prevent improper, inflammatory, and

prejudicial considerations from reaching the jury. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object during the State's improper closing arguments, and for failing to make an opening statement and failing to make available arguments during closing. Trial counsel failed to effectively challenge the State's fingerprint, *Williams* Rule, and eyewitness identification evidence.

ARGUMENT III – Trial counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase for failing to object to the State using the *Williams* Rule cases as evidence of aggravation when the whole premise behind the admission of the *Williams* Rule cases which Mr. Peterson was convicted and those which he was not convicted was limited to proving the similar facts. Trial counsel was also ineffective for failing to object to facts not in evidence, and failing to present additional lay witnesses to support mitigation. The case for life was further prejudiced by the defense expert's branding Mr. Peterson with the stigma of antisocial personality disorder.

ARGUMENT IV—The errors in this case are significantly prejudicial when their cumulative effect is considered.

CLAIM I

MR. PETERSON WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE BIASED JURORS WERE NOT STRICKEN FROM THE PANEL. DEFENSE **COUNSEL** WAS **INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO QUESTION**

JURORS REGARDING THEIR EXPERIENCES AND BIASES, CHALLENGE THEM FOR CAUSE, OR HAVE THEM EXCUSED BY EXERCISING A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE. THE LOWER COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED RELIEF UNDER STRICKLAND.

Under the principles set forth by this Court in *Stephens v. State*, 748 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1999), this claim is a mixed question of law and fact requiring *de novo* review with deference only to the factual findings by the lower court.

In *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447, 455-456 (2009), the United States Supreme Court stated as follows: "We do not require a defendant to show 'that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome' of his penalty proceeding, but rather that he establish 'a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in [that] outcome.' *Strickland*, 466 U.S., at 693-694, 104 S.Ct. 2052." Mr. Peterson's burden of proof in this postconviction action is something less than a preponderance of the evidence.

Problems During Voir Dire

During *voir dire*, information surfaced regarding several jurors that should have alerted competent counsel of the need to exercise a strike.

Ineffective assistance of counsel is comprised of two components: deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove deficient performance the defendant must show "that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed by the

Sixth Amendment." *Id.* The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Id.* at 688. To prove the deficient performance caused prejudice to the defendant, the defendant must show "that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Id.* at 687.

The defendant must show both deficient performance and prejudice to prove that a "conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." *Id.* "The purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel is to ensure that a defendant had the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding." *Id.* at 691.

A defendant, however, "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Id.* at 693. "When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. When a defendant challenges a death sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer--including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence--would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." *Id.* at 695.

"In making this determination, a court hearing an ineffectiveness claim

must consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury." *Id.* at 695. "[A] verdict or conclusion only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support." *Id.* at 696.

Jury selection in any criminal case is one of the most important stages of a criminal trial. In a capital case the importance of jury selection takes on a greater dimension because each individual juror must decide ultimately whether an individual will live or die. Counsel had the added responsibility to ensure that the jurors selected will deliberate and consider mitigation in a manner that is consistent with the constitutional requirement that the death penalty must be reserved for the most aggravated and least mitigated of murders.

Trial counsel seriously failed during this crucial phase of Mr. Peterson's representation. Trial counsel was ineffective throughout jury selection. During this critical stage, important areas of juror bias and prejudice were not adequately addressed or were simply ignored. Counsel failed to use the jury selection process to ensure that Mr. Peterson was tried by a fair jury.

As a result of counsel's failures during jury selection, Mr. Peterson was prejudicially denied the most fundamental of rights - - a fair and impartial jury.

Juror Audra Johnson

There were several troubling issues surrounding Juror Johnson, and therefore she should not have served on this jury. The Florida Supreme Court stated the following over 50 years ago:

[I]f there is basis for any reasonable doubt as to any juror's possessing that state of mind which will enable him to render an impartial verdict based solely on the evidence submitted and the law announced at the trial he should be excused for cause on motion of a party.

Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7, 23-24 (Fla.1959). When asked about her contact with

the criminal justice system, Juror Johnson shared the following information: "I was

also a victim when I was 16." Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 789. When asked if she felt

"comfortable talking" about the incident, she answered, "No." Dir. ROA Vol.

XXII, 792. She approached the bench discreetly, and informed, "I was raped when

I was 16." Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 792. She said that the assault took place in

Pinellas County, and informed the Court, "I don't think that there was enough time

sentence for the crime." Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 795. This defense inquired:

MR. MCDERMOTT: The person was convicted? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: Yes. MR. MCDERMOTT: And do you recall his name? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: Cedrick Bailey. MR. MCDERMOTT: Hm? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: Cedrick Bailey. MR. MCDERMOTT: And you felt that his sentence wasn't severe enough? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: Correct. MR. MCDERMOTT: What did he get? What sentence? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: I think it was like two years.

MR. MCDERMOTT: Do you feel that experience-well, let me ask you this: Did the defense lawyers take your deposition or statement? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: Yes. MR. MCDERMOTT: Was that uncomfortable for you? PROSPECTIVE JUROR AUDRA JOHNSON: Yeah, at times. Dir. ROA Vol. XXII, 795-796. Although Juror Johnson may not have expressed any feelings which would have conclusively warranted a cause challenge, some jurors are just not suitable for service based on their unique life history and circumstances. At the very least, the defense should have exercised a peremptory challenge on Juror Johnson. *See McKenzie v. State*, 29 So. 3d 272, 280 (Fla. 2010)(finding a juror's history "place[d] her beyond service on this jury.").

In the case at bar, the State would present Williams rule evidence that circumstantially implicated Mr. Peterson in a Hillsborough County rape. An FDLE DNA analyst involved in that case testified in the feature Pinellas trial that "the question sample from [the victim] matched the DNA profile of Charles Peterson." Dir. ROA Vol. XXIII, 1068. Trial counsel asked to approach the bench at that point in the testimony and pointed out: "[T]he witness said 'sample from Palmisano.' I'd like-I think that hints pretty strongly it was bodily fluid obtained from her." Dir. ROA Vol. XXIII, 1068. Trial counsel knew this might become an issue, and therefore should have ensured that Juror Johnson not serve as a juror because she herself was a victim of a rape. Even before the testimony revealing that there might have been a rape, Mr. McDermott warned and foreshadowed the following: "the DNA, while it is coming into evidence, without the sexual battery material, I think that the jury's going to try to pretty well guess where that came from, and that's the real problem from a prejudice standpoint." Dir. ROA Vol.

XXIII, 939-940. As such, trial counsel failed in a duty to strike Juror Johnson from the panel. To add further prejudice, the juror's attacker, Cedrick Bailey, very closely resembles Mr. Peterson, such that this traumatic event may have been relived in her mind by Ms. Johnson as she looked over at Mr. Peterson and heard how his DNA was recovered from the person who was described as the "victim" in the case, "Mary Palmisano." Dir. ROA Vol. XXIII, 1064. Cedrick Bailey's booking photo from 2006 reveals high, fleshy cheeks that witnesses described when speaking of Mr. Peterson. (*See* PC ROA Vol. V, 807-08, 810).

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