RECEIVED, 4/5/2013 15:18:33, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES C. PETERSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-1442 L.T. No. CRC 00-05107 CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: 813-287-7910
Facsimile: 813-281-5501
capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and]
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

At the evidentiary hearing in this matter Mr. Watts testified that defense counsel repeatedly tried to interject statements by MP that Officer Herren pressured her to make an identification. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 587-588). Because MP did not give in to any alleged pressure and was instead unable to make an identification, either before or at trial, and since Officer Herren worked for a separate department in a separate jurisdiction, this court correctly limited the scope of the inquiry. (Jury Trial Transcript, pp. 986-990; 1001-1005).

(V5/764) (e.s.) Essentially, Peterson seeks to challenge the trial court's evidentiary ruling at trial; however, that issue is procedurally barred in post-conviction.

Next, Peterson repeats that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that the State failed "to prove the collateral crimes beyond a reasonable doubt." (Initial Brief at 44). First, any substantive challenge to the Williams rule evidence is procedurally barred. Peterson challenged the admission of the Williams rule evidence on direct appeal and this Court affirmed the admission of that evidence. Peterson v. State, 2 So. 3d 146, 153 (Fla. 2009). Second, Peterson's reference to a "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard is misleading and incorrect. Instead, the trial court must determine that clear and convincing evidence supports

the claim that the defendant did commit the collateral crime. See, Kopsho v. State, 84 So. 3d 204, 212 (Fla. 2012), citing McLean v. State, 934 So. 2d 1248, 1262 (Fla. 2006). In denying this IAC claim, the trial court meticulously explained:

At trial the State presented collateral crimes evidence that Peterson had robbed a 1) Family Dollar store, 2)a Phar-Mor, and 3)a McCrory's, in the Tampa/St. Petersburg, Florida, area between February, 1997, and August, 1998. Peterson was convicted of the Family Dollar store robbery but not charged in the Phar-Mor and McCrory's robberies. Peterson alleges that there was reasonable doubt as to whether he actually committed the Williams rule crimes and that trial counsel ineffective for failing to argue in closing arguments that the State failed to prove those cases beyond a reasonable doubt. Peterson argues counsel should have done more than focus on the homicide in this case and claims that counsel should have asked for a special jury instruction directing the jury not to consider the Williams rule evidence unless the State proved those offenses beyond a reasonable doubt.

As correctly argued by the State, any substantive challenge to the admission of the Williams rule evidence in this case is procedurally barred. Peterson challenged the admission of the Williams rule evidence on direct appeal and the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the admission of the Williams rule evidence. Peterson v. State, 2 So.3d 146, 153 (Fla. 2009). Furthermore, if Peterson is asserting a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for not disputing that Peterson committed the collateral robberies and informing the Florida Supreme Court that Peterson was either convicted or pled guilty to each collateral robbery, such a claim is not cognizable in a rule 3.851 proceeding. See Cook v. State, 792 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Fla. 2001); Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1, 21 (Fla. 2003).

It was not necessary for the jury to find any or all of the collateral crimes to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt in order for them to have circumstantial value in proving Peterson guilty of the charged offense. Under the Williams rule, before evidence of a collateral act can be admitted at trial, the State must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the collateral act. Acevedo v. State, 787 So.2d 127, 129-30 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001) citing State v. Norris, 168 So.2d 541

(Fla. 1964); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 743 So.2d 141, 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); and <u>Audano v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

In addition, proof of Peterson's identity as the three perpetrator of the collateral crimes overwhelming. As demonstrated during the penalty phase, Peterson had previously been found guilty by a jury of the Hillsborough County Family Dollar store crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. And, Peterson's identity as the perpetrator of the Hillsborough Family Dollar store crimes was shown in the instant case by a conclusive DNA match of multiple samples from the crime scene leaving a random match probability of between one in 3.85 billion one Americans to in 621 billion African African Americans. (Jury Trial Transcript, p. 1028).

In the Phar-mor collateral crime, Peterson was identified by mitochondrial DNA from a hair stem found on tape used to bind the victims, by identification of people who knew him well as being the individual on a surveillance tape entering the store before the robbery, and by the fact that shoes seized from his storage locker matched shoeprints left at the crime scene by the assailant. (Jury Trial Transcript, pp. 1031-1047, 1055-1056, 1072-1075, 1236-1238, 1240-1241, 1255-1257, 1421-1422, 1484-1491. 1495-1504, 1514-1515, 1525-1532; ROA 3386-3435). In the third collateral crime involving the McCrory's store, he was identified by the victim both by photo-pack and by in-court identification, and by the fact that some of the stolen items were found hidden behind a refrigerator in Peterson's garage, including the store's bank deposit bag and receipts and checks dated the same day as the robbery. Fingerprint technicians were able to match one of Peterson's fingerprints and his palm print with latent prints developed from the stolen items hidden in Peterson's garage. (Jury Trial Transcript, pp. 1555-1565, 1568-1588, 1592-1599).

The identical modus operandi and language used in the three robberies further reinforced Peterson's guilt. Recitation of the facts by defense counsel in an attempt to deny Peterson's involvement would have been futile, and would only serve to emphasize the evidence. Mr. Watts confirmed this strategy at the evidentiary hearing on this matter, testifying that the defense trial strategy was to focus on the weaknesses of the main case, rather than the relatively strong Williams rule cases. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, p. 506).

(V5/769-70) (e.s.)

Next, Peterson summarily asserts that counsel was ineffective for failing to make an opening statement. (Initial Brief at 44). There is no argument on this issue and, as a result, it is waived. See, Reynolds v. State, 99 So. 3d 459, 485 (Fla. 2012), citing Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990). However, Peterson does refer to the absence of an opening statement in his description of "problems with the lower court's order." At that point, Peterson alleges that the trial court gave "too much credit" to the defense. (Initial Brief at 70). Mr. Watts testified that the defense had nothing to offer the jury to exonerate Peterson and the defense was left with attacking the State's evidence. As the trial court noted, at the time of trial, the defense did not know how many of the six Williams rule cases the State would be presenting. Thus, if counsel had commented on all six cases in opening statements and the State had only presented three Williams rule cases, it would have been unfavorable to the defense. Furthermore, cross-examination did not need to be previewed to the jury and an opening statement would have revealed the defense strategy to the State. At the time of trial, if the defense had presented evidence other than Peterson's testimony, they would have had to give up the first and last closing, which the defense considered advantageous. In this case, the defense was able to present both the first and last closing argument. Trial counsel's reasoned strategic decision is unassailable under *Strickland*. Furthermore, although Peterson criticizes trial counsel for not presenting evidence, Peterson does not identify any such evidence. (See Initial Brief at 70-71).

IAC/Family Dollar DNA and the "Ineffective Stipulation"

In this IAC sub-claim, Peterson alleges that trial counsel should have filed a pre-trial motion in limine to prevent a State witness from referring to M.P. as the "victim" in the Hillsborough Family Dollar Williams rule case.

At the post-conviction hearing, Mr. Watts testified that M.P. was properly referred to as a victim in the Family Dollar case. As the trial court noted, "[t]here was little doubt that M.P. was the victim of a robbery as her testimony was unimpeached regarding this issue. The only issue was the identity of the perpetrator. It is purely speculative that the jury inferred that M.P. was the victim of a rape. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to file a motion or failing to request a mistrial," because no violation of the DNA stipulation occurred. (V5/771). The trial court also noted that as to Peterson's claim that testimony of DNA comparisons between Peterson and M.P. "indicated that M.P. was raped during this robbery," Peterson offered no facts or evidence to substantiate his interpretation of this testimony. Furthermore,

The trial transcript reveals that precautions were taken to avoid making any references to a rape committed by Peterson. Counsel was faced with the choice of entering a stipulation or insuring that evidence of the tape would he admitted as the source of the DNA. (Jury Trial Transcript, pp. 963-68, 1023-1026, 1052-55, 1064-1072). The State fashioned its questioning and

introduction of physical evidence to honor the stipulation.

Counsel was not ineffective for falling to object to a "violation" of the stipulation to preclude the introduction of evidence of rape, as no such violation occurred; trial counsel cannot he faulted for failing to make a meritless objection. See Ferrell v. State, 29 So 3d 959 (Fla. 2010).

(V5/771) (e.s.)

As this Court noted on direct appeal, "[i]n order to avoid admitting unfairly prejudicial evidence of a sexual battery, the trial court read a stipulation that DNA was recovered in the Family Dollar crime. Testing revealed that this DNA matched Peterson's known DNA sample. Peterson v. State, 2 So. 3d 146, 150 (Fla. 2009). Inasmuch as the trial court found there was no violation of this stipulation, Peterson failed to demonstrate any deficient performance and resulting prejudice under Strickland.

IAC/failure to object to and challenge the fingerprint evidence

No fingerprints identified Peterson as the perpetrator of the Big Lots murder. Instead, the fingerprints concern the McCrory's robbery. In that Williams rule case, Peterson was identified with 90% certainty from an investigative photo-pack, identified by the victim with certainty at the instant trial, and the checks and receipts stolen from McCrory's were found hidden behind a refrigerator in the garage. Peterson's prints were located on the stolen check and McCrory's receipt.

Peterson alleges that trial counsel was ineffective in failing

to object to the testimony of fingerprint analyst Melinda Clayton and that trial counsel should have consulted with an expert such as Simon Cole. At trial, Ms. Clayton testified that she analyzed the known fingerprints of Peterson, and compared them with prints located on a cash register receipt and a check that were stolen from McCrory's. Ms. Clayton testified that the latent print from the receipt was his left index-left middle finger, that the latent print from the check was his right palm print and that the prints were located on the recovered stolen items.²

In finding that Peterson failed to establish deficient performance and resulting prejudice, the trial court noted that in Johnston v. State, 70 So. 3d 472, 483-484 (Fla. 2011), this Court rejected a claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to call an expert witness, Simon Cole, to testify that fingerprinting is unreliable science. And, as to the Brandon Mayfield case, the trial court noted,

. . . Ms. Clayton testified that she believed that the Mayfield case was an example of an erroneous identification rather than an example of two different people having the same fingerprints. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 254, 269). Ms. Clayton rejected the defense's contention that the two individuals in that case had the same fingerprints. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, p. 291). As to her examination in the instant

²Peterson also alleges that Ms. Clayton's testimony was improper under *Ramirez v. State*, 810 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 2001), a direct appeal case which held that a new and novel knife mark identification procedure did not reach the threshold for admissibility under *Frye* and, therefore, was unreliable and inadmissible. Once again, any substantive challenge to the record evidence presented at trial is procedurally barred in post-conviction.

case, Ms. Clayton knew that one of the known prints was from Peterson but he was not the only person whose fingerprints she analyzed for this case. (*Evidentiary Hearing Transcript*, pp. 274-75).

Ms. Clayton further testified that the issues addressed after the Mayfield case and in publications released in 2009 and 2011 were not available at the time of the Peterson trial in 2005. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 281; 286). The fingerprint standards in effect at the time of trial suggested that an examiner either testify to an identification or exclusion. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, p. 285-86). She abided by those standards in her testimony during the trial in the instant case. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, p. 286-90).

Ms. Clayton agreed on redirect by the defense that 2005 testimony did not include the qualifying language from the resolution adopted after Peterson's trial and, therefore, if offered today, it could be conduct unbecoming a member of the (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 292-93). Clayton's response was based upon an excerpt of a resolution read by the defense but she later clarified her previous statement after having been given the opportunity to review the entirety of the resolution. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 703, 707, 714). Ms. Clayton explained that her trial testimony was fully correct and consistent with the regulations existing at that time. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, p. 707).

The controlling case law at the time of the trial, as well as the continued consensus of expert opinion, make it clear that Simon Cole's testimony would not have been admissible at trial. Mr. Cole is not a fingerprint comparison expert and Peterson has never alleged, nor shown, that expert Melinda Clayton was incorrect in her comparison of Peterson's prints with the latent prints in question. The allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce testimony that was inadmissible, irrelevant and of no significant probative value fails to satisfy both the deficiency and prejudice prongs of Strickland.

(V5/772-73)

In faulting the trial court's order, Peterson criticizes the trial court's reliance on Ms. Clayton's testimony on recall and

Peterson insists that an expert like Simon Cole should have been called. (Initial Brief at 72-73). Again, Simon Cole is not a fingerprint comparison expert and the defense has never shown that expert Melinda Clayton was incorrect in her comparison of Peterson's prints with the prints in question. As in *Johnston*, 70 So. 3d at 483-84, the trial court's order should be affirmed.

IAC/failure to raise an Apprendi challenge to Williams rule cases

Next, Peterson cites to Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 491, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000) and alleges that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to raise an Apprendi-based challenge to the clear and convincing standard for the admission of collateral crime evidence at the quilt phase. In denying post-conviction relief, the trial court ruled that (1) any substantive challenge to the admission of the Williams rule evidence is procedurally barred, (2) any substantive claim, based on Apprendi, is procedurally barred, and (3) Peterson raised a companion Ring claim on direct appeal and this Court found no merit to it, and any further argument or claim with regard to the penalty phase is procedurally barred, as it was already considered and found to be without merit on direct appeal. (V5/774), citing *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied, 125 S. Ct. 413 (2004); Allen v. State, 854 So. 2d 1255, 1258, n.4 (Fla. 2003). In faulting the trial court's order, Peterson argues that a Williams rule claim and Apprendi/Ring claim should not be deemed procedurally barred in post-conviction.

(Initial Brief at 73). However, the principle is well-settled that issues which either were or could have been litigated at trial and on direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack. Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 218 (Fla. 2002).

The trial court ultimately rejected the IAC claim because trial counsel cannot he deemed ineffective for failing to pursue meritless actions. As the trial court explained:

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